
 
1 
 

 
 

Notice of a meeting of 
Council 

 
Monday, 17 May 2021 

2.30 pm 
Cheltenham Town Hall, Imperial Square, Cheltenham, GL50 

1QA 
 

Membership 

Councillors: Sandra Holliday (Vice-Chair), Victoria Atherstone, Matt Babbage, 
Paul Baker, Garth Barnes, Dilys Barrell, Ian Bassett-Smith, 
Angie Boyes, Nigel Britter, Jonny Brownsteen, Barbara Clark, 
Flo Clucas, Mike Collins, Iain Dobie, Stephan Fifield, Bernard Fisher, 
Wendy Flynn, Tim Harman, Steve Harvey, Rowena Hay, 
Alex Hegenbarth, Martin Horwood, Peter Jeffries, Alisha Lewis, 
Chris Mason, Guy Maughfling, Paul McCloskey, Andrew McKinlay, 
Emma Nelson, Tony Oliver, John Payne, Richard Pineger, Julie Sankey, 
Louis Savage, Diggory Seacome, Jo Stafford, Simon Wheeler, 
Max Wilkinson, Suzanne Williams and David Willingham 

 Roger Whyborn (Chair) 

 

A Moment of Reflection 
This will be of an inclusive nature and held virtually at 9:15am. All Members are 

welcome to participate but need 

not do so. 
 

 

Agenda 
    

1.  APOLOGIES  

   
2.  COMMUNICATIONS BY THE RETIRING MAYOR  

   
3.  ELECTION OF MAYOR (CHAIR OF COUNCIL) 2021-2022  

   
4.  ELECTION OF DEPUTY MAYOR (VICE CHAIR OF COUNCIL) 

2021-22 
 

   
5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

6.  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
Minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 2021 

(Pages 
5 - 34) 

   
7.  COMMUNICATIONS BY THE MAYOR  



    

 
2 
 

   

8.  APPOINTMENT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
   

9.  COMMUNICATIONS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
   

10.  TO NOTE THE MEMBERSHIP OF CABINET INCLUDING THE 
DEPUTY LEADER 

 

   

11.  TO ESTABLISH AND APPOINT TO THE FOLLOWING 
COMMITTEES, (INCLUDING THE APPOINTMENT OF 
SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS) 
Note : Details of political group nominations to committees will be 
circulated separately on the day of the meeting. 
 
With Council’s agreement the Mayor may propose that the 
nominations are agreed on bloc. 
 

a) Overview and Scrutiny Committee (must be non-Executive 
members) 

b) Audit, Compliance and Governance Committee 
c) Planning 
d) Licensing 
e) Standards Committee (no substitutes) 
f) Appointments and Remuneration Committee 
g) JNC Disciplinary Committee 
h) JNC Appeals Committee 

 

   

12.  APPOINTMENT OF THE CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR OF THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
Note : According to the Constitution the Chair shall not be a member 
of the political group which forms the Cabinet 

 

   

13.  APPOINTMENT TO GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
To appoint one Councillor and a substitute, both non-Executive 
members. 

 

   

14.  APPOINTMENT TO GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
To appoint one Councillor and a substitute, both non-Executive 
members. 

 

   

15.  APPOINTMENT TO GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME 
PANEL 
To appoint one Councillor and a substitute 
 
Note : Whilst this appointment does not have to be a non-Executive 
member, appointing such a member should avoid a potential conflict 
of interest and facilitate 2 way feedback with O&S committee (see 
report to Council 14 May 2012) 

 

   

16.  APPOINTMENTS TO ADVISORY PANELS AND WORKING 
GROUPS 
To appoint to the following advisory panels and working groups : 
 

 

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/documents/s4041/2012_05_14_COU_14_Police_and_Crime_Panel_Report.pdf


    

 
3 
 

a) Treasury Management Panel 
b) Constitution Working Group 

   

17.  APPOINTMENT OF MEMBER CHAMPIONS 
To appoint Member Champions for the following: 
 

- Mental Health (currently 3 Members) 
- Armed Forces (currently 1 Member) 
- Safeguarding (currently 1 Member) 
- Cycling and Walking (currently 1 Member) 

 

   
18.  TO APPROVE CONSEQUENTIAL CHANGES TO THE 

CONSTITUTION 
 

   

19.  NOTICES OF MOTION  
   

20.  TO RECEIVE PETITIONS  
   

21.  ANY OTHER ITEM THE MAYOR DETERMINES AS URGENT AND 
WHICH REQUIRES A DECISION 
The Selection Council will be followed by separate meetings of the 
Audit, Compliance and Governance Committee, Planning Committee, 
Licensing committee, Appointments and Remuneration Committee, 
JNC Disciplinary Committee, JNC Appeals Committee, Treasury 
Management Panel, the Constitution Working Group and the Asset 
Management Working Group. Each meeting will have the following 
standard agenda : 
 
Agenda 
 
Apologies 
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
To appoint the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee/Panel 
 
 
NB In previous years the Mayor has proposed that the Chairs and 
Vice-Chairs where necessary be elected by Council rather than by 
individual committees in separate meetings. 

 

   
 

Contact Officer:  Bev Thomas, Democratic Services Team Leader, 01242 264246 
Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk 

 
Gareth Edmundson 

Chief Executive 
 
 
FILMING, RECORDING AND BROADCASTING OF  COUNCIL MEETINGS 
This meeting will be recorded by the council for live and/or subsequent broadcast 
online at www.cheltenham.gov.uk and www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough.  
At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm this. The footage will be streamed live 
on the YouTube channel.  

mailto:democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk
http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/
http://www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough


    

 
4 
 

If you participate in the meeting you are consenting to the use of those sound 
recordings for broadcasting and training purposes.  



 
 
 
 

 
- 1 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

Council 
 

Monday, 22nd March, 2021 

2.30  - 6.30 pm 
 

Attendees 

Councillors: Roger Whyborn (Chair), Sandra Holliday (Vice-Chair), 
Victoria Atherstone, Matt Babbage, Paul Baker, Garth Barnes, 
Dilys Barrell, Angie Boyes, Nigel Britter, Jonny Brownsteen, 
Flo Clucas, Chris Coleman, Mike Collins, Stephen Cooke, 
Iain Dobie, Bernard Fisher, Wendy Flynn, Tim Harman, 
Steve Harvey, Rowena Hay, Karl Hobley, Martin Horwood, 
Peter Jeffries, Steve Jordan, Chris Mason, Paul McCloskey, 
Andrew McKinlay, Tony Oliver, Dennis Parsons, John Payne, 
Louis Savage, Diggory Seacome, Malcolm Stennett, Jo Stafford, 
Klara Sudbury, Simon Wheeler, Max Wilkinson, 
Suzanne Williams and David Willingham 

 
 

Minutes 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Cllr. Hegenbarth. 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Cllr. Whyborn declared an interest in agenda item 15 and intended to leave the 
meeting at that point. 

 

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
One Member suggested amending the last bullet point of the debate on the 
amendment in item 10 to read ‘other Conservative-run authorities with elections 
by halves and thirds’. 

The minutes of the 22nd February meeting (as amended) were approved and 
signed as a correct record. 

 

4. COMMUNICATIONS BY THE MAYOR 
The Mayor acknowledged that it had been a difficult year, but was pleased to 
report that over £19k had been raised through the food bank fund. He noted 
that the meeting was taking place the day before the anniversary of the first 
national lockdown, and led Members in a minute’s silence to remember those 
who had lost their lives to Covid-19. 

He added that in June 2020, Council had passed a motion to take steps to 
thank individuals, groups, bodies and businesses who had gone above and 
beyond during the pandemic. To that end, several awards had been set up for 
exceptional service, with nominations open until the 12th April. 

Page 5
Agenda Item 6



 
 
 

 

 
- 2 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

He noted that it was close to the end of his term as Mayor, and that he would 
also be leaving the borough council in May. He thanked all the other Members 
who were stepping down in May for their service. 

 

5. COMMUNICATIONS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
The Leader of the Council acknowledged that her briefing would be a sombre 
one due to the latest act of violence committed against women by men in the 
UK, and sent her thoughts to the family of Sarah Everard. 118 women were 
killed by men in the UK in the last year, while 1.6m suffered domestic abuse. 
This was a sobering reality to reflect upon, and it was important to consider 
what practical measures the council could take to protect women. 

She had written to the Police & Crime Commissioner raising a number of issues 
including the possibility of treating misogyny as a hate crime, which the PCC 
was open to. Some positive steps had been identified, such as increased 
lighting and CCTV, but these alone would not solve the problem. Women 
should be able to walk freely without fear, and systematic action was needed at 
the national level to drive out inequality. The criminal justice system also 
needed to be reformed to support victims in coming forward. Fundamental 
investment in education that embedded the right cultural values in schools and 
in society was needed in order to eradicate predatory behaviour and violence 
towards women. 

She was pleased to confirm that the third round of additional restrictions grant 
funding was now available. This was aimed at businesses in specific need of 
support, and was especially timely after race week behind closed doors had 
offered a poignant reminder of what had been lost for businesses. These 
payments would each total £5,000, alongside grants of £1,000 to taxi drivers 
licensed in the borough. She reported that the total distributed by the council 
since the beginning of the crisis was now up to £37.5m from 8.400 grants, and 
thanked the Revenues & Benefits team for administering this. 

She reported that the Minster Innovation Exchange land swap had taken place, 
forming an important part of the council’s road to economic recovery and place 
making. She also added that Gloucester City Council would be joining the Ubico 
family next year. 

Due to Cheltenham’s strong historical links with its Polish community, the Polish 
flag would be flown from the Municipal Offices on its Heritage Day (2nd May). 
The flag would also be added to the list of those which are flown every year. 
Additionally, the Municipal Offices flag would be lowered to half mast on March 
23rd to mark the first anniversary of lockdown, to acknowledge those who had 
suffered and served their communities. 

She placed on record her thanks to the Members stepping down in May, and 
wished the best of luck to those seeking re-election. She particularly thanked 
the Mayor for serving his role for longer than expected due to Covid, and 
thanked Cllr. Jordan for 12 years of service as Leader and 30 years of service 
to his ward members and the town as a whole. 

She rejected rumours that Pittville Pump Rooms would be turned into offices, 
stressing that the Pump Rooms were an important heritage and cultural asset. 
Finally, she noted that Cheltenham had been nationally recognised by the iESE 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
- 3 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

Transformation awards in the Working Together category, illustrating the 
strength of the council’s partnership working. 

 

6. TO RECEIVE PETITIONS 
Emma Nelson presented her petition, which had already received 199 physical 
and 613 online signatures. The petition asked for a holistic approach to be 
taken to flood protection, requiring a comprehensive flood risk assessment 
before further development sites could be allocated. 

The Mayor thanked Mrs Nelson for her submission and confirmed that as it had 
received more than 750 signatures, it would be discussed at the next ordinary 
Council meeting after the May elections. 

 

7. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

1. Question from Mr Bailey to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 Where has Cheltenham Borough Council safeguarded any land along 
any main rivers in the Borough to reduce the effects of Global Warming? 
The National Planning Policy Framework requires that land be 
safeguarded to reduce the effects of global warming. Leckhampton land 
seems to be the last option to safeguard land on the River Hatherley 
Brook, as such the risk needs addressing now. Failure to plan as required 
by NPPF 150 could present a life-threatening risk in future years. 

 Response from Cabinet Member  

 The current Cheltenham Plan was prepared and adopted in 2020 in 
accordance with the 2012 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
This had a paragraph 100 which is very similar to the 157 in the 2019 
NPPF to which Mr Bailey I believe is referring.  The preparatory work on 
the Plan including undertaking Strategic Flood Risk Assessments which 
are available on the Council’s website.  There were extensive discussions 
on flooding issues with our Drainage Engineer, the Local Lead Flood 
Authority (LLFA), local flood groups and the Environment Agency.  

We did not safeguard any specific land for flood management in the 
future although that may take place within allocated sites as detailed 
planning proceeds. No such safeguarding was suggested through the 
plan preparation process. However, an exception to the above could be 
said to exist for allocated sites MD3 (Royal Well) and E4 (Chelt Walk) 
which have some specific policy requirements related to flood risk. 

For Chelt Walk: 

 Provide at minimum an 8 metre buffer from the top of bank of the 
River Chelt; 

 Provide river corridor enhancements that help to protect and 
enhance the biodiversity and river setting at this location; 

 Not result in a net loss in flood plain storage or adversely impact 
out-of-bank flows, with opportunities explored to provide flood risk 
betterment; 

 Provide financial contributions to the flood warning service, 
maintenance and future improvements of the adjacent River Chelt 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
- 4 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

flood alleviation scheme; and 

 All finished floor levels should be set 600mm above the 1 in 100 
year level, including an appropriate allowance for climate change. 

 

For Royal Well: 

 Development should not locate any new development within 8 
metres of the culverted River Chelt; 

 Development should not result in a net loss in flood plain storage 
or adversely impact out of bank flows, with opportunities explored 
to provide flood risk betterment; 

 Development should provide financial contributions to the flood 
warning service, maintenance and future improvements of the 
adjacent River Chelt flood alleviation scheme; 

 Development should ensure new finished floor levels be set 
600mm above the 1 in 100 year level, including an appropriate 
allowance for climate change; and 

 Development should not allow self-contained basement dwellings. 
 

It may be helpful for Mr Bailey to be aware that in the review of the Joint 
Core Strategy, Level 1 and Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessments will 
be undertaken in consultation with the Environment Agency, LLFA, 
Severn Trent Water and other interested stakeholders, to assist in 
determining how development will be accommodated in the future.  
Consultation on the first stage of the formal review of the Joint Core 
Strategy is programmed for the autumn of 2021.   

 
Detailed consideration of flood prevention and the impact of climate 
change will be addressed at the planning application stage.    
 

 Supplementary question from Mr Bailey 

 Whilst I agree that detailed consideration of flood prevention and the 
impact of climate change will be addressed at the planning application 
stage. The LPA Officer, LLFA Officer and EA Officer have all stated they 
look only at the individual application and report accordingly. The 
Environment Agency has commented that the sequential effect of 
developments be considered. How can the residents affected by several 
developments in Leckhampton and Warden Hill be assured that the 
sequential effect of multiple applications all with drainage systems 
affecting the river are being considered in the round? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 There are two ways in which this is picked up, firstly through strategic 
plan making.  The JCS was subject to strategic flood assessment and this 
will be the case for the review of this plan which is taking place this year.  
In preparing these plans, there is close engagement with the Environment 
Agency, the LLFA and other key stakeholders. This close engagement 
flows through in terms of context to individual planning applications at 
which time more detail assessment is undertaken. At an operational level 
the council has a close working relationship with the Environment Agency 
and the LLFA, this includes the sharing of information and understanding 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
- 5 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

the impacts of development. 

2. Question from Mr Bailey to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 What financial risk have been identified that are associated with flooding 
in the Borough?  
• Flooding directly affects Council assets and the Council is currently 
indirectly managing watercourses for riparian owners.  
• All surface water drainage systems need a Lifetime Plan.  

Whilst this is largely down to the “Owner” the reality is that it falls to the 
public purse. Five or six different plans exist for the individual 
developments in Leckhampton the short term. But the longer term 
outcomes present a real financial risk unless robust policies are in place.. 
I have been unable to establish any policies, safeguarded land or any 
Corporate Risks associated with flooding. If there are financial risk these 
need to be managed from the date of approval of the application. 

 Response from Cabinet Member  

 In responding to this question, I am responding to the second part first. 

As the Lead Local Flood Authority, Gloucestershire County Council are 
responsible for identifying and allocating flood risk to the districts of 
Gloucestershire along with the national risk assessments undertaken by 
the Environment Agency.  

In 2020, the LLFA identified Cheltenham as high risk for surface water 
flooding. CBC are working closely with the LLFA to understand the 
implications of this and the necessary actions, policies and procedures 
that may need to be established or updated in order to effectively respond 
to this. This is likely to include update to our current "Cheltenham Surface 
Water Management Plan". Please also refer to the answer provided in Q1 
for the Joint Core Strategy Strategic Flood Risk Assessments. 

CBC have several SuDs, balancing ponds and flood alleviation schemes 
in our parks and opens spaces such as, Beeches playing field, Coxs 
Meadow, Sandford Park, Pittville Park, Priors Farm, Chelt Walk St Peters, 
Honeybourne Way, Coburn Gardens, Brizen Lanes and Springfield Park 
etc.  CBC manages and maintains them solely or as part of a partnership 
agreement with the Environment Agency or GCC. 

Our default approach is to encourage and enforce appropriate riparian 
duties to be undertaken by riparian owners. This is part of our 
arrangement with GCC who (as the Lead Local Flood Authority) have 
delegated authority to us for Consenting & Enforcing on ordinary 
watercourses. 

CBC do not actively seek to maintain assets that are not our 
responsibility. There are however a few exceptional circumstances in 
which we may deviate from this approach, if there are community and 
safety benefits to be realised from doing so. 

 We have assisted a very small number of riparian owners in the past at 
strategic locations where the riparian owner: 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
- 6 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

 Is unable to undertake the required maintenance (e.g. financially unable 
or vulnerable residents).  

· Cannot be traced (not all land is registered)  
· If CBC have been instrumental in installing an asset on that 

land in the past (e.g. trash screens or other flood alleviation 
measures put in place since 2007 flooding) we may voluntarily 
continue to support owners to maintain that specific asset, but 
this does not remove their riparian responsibilities 

 

All developments since 2015 should have an agreed SuDS Maintenance 
Plan and Drainage Scheme. For un-adopted SuDS the overall 
responsibility for surface water flood risk is managed by GCC as the 
(Lead Local Flood Authority) LLFA. 

There is considerable work being undertaken to review the future 
maintenance of flood assets in Cheltenham and where applicable riparian 
owners will be reminded of their responsibilities. 

 We are also relaunching our Flood Warden scheme and updating 
communications, engagement and public information around flooding (in 
partnership with the other agencies involved), which should help increase 
awareness of riparian responsibilities and flood risk across the borough. 

Turning now to the specific question of financial risk, the Council is 
currently in the process of reviewing its approach to how it manages its 
resources allocated to managing flooding, however as outlined above, the 
responsibility for the impact of flooding in terms of assessments, 
interventions and managements falls with a number of agencies and 
authorities together with businesses and homeowners at risk, who require 
flood insurance.  There is not a single financial risk measure for this, but 
measures in place across the separate agencies and authorities. 

 Supplementary question 

 Can we be sure that the council will not put these applications before 
committee before the debate on the subject and JCS review have taken 
place? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 I understand that very detailed assessments already taken place as part 
of the local planning application system, but I will liaise with officers to 
see if that will be necessary and respond in more detail to Mr Bailey in 
writing. 

3. Question from to Jess Cliff to the Cabinet Member Clean and Green 
Environment, Councillor Chris Coleman 

 I am writing in response to the recent murder of Sarah Everard in London. 

Women all over the country (myself included) are scared to walk alone in 
the dark. Sarah’s death has increased those fears and has demonstrated 
that it is appropriate to hold those concerns.  

In response to the event, Lambeth council has committed to install 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
- 7 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

additional lighting in Clapham Common to help reduce the likelihood of 
these events occurring and to make women feel safer when walking at 
night. This commitment struck me as particularly prominent since, as a 
women in my 20s, I have often felt scared when walking alone in the 
dark, including near my home in Cheltenham.  

My quickest way back to my house from the centre of the town includes 
walking through the unlit Sandford park. I normally choose a much longer 
route home if alone to avoid walking in the dark. I also know of examples 
of attempted attacks on women in Montpellier Gardens and Imperial 
Gardens. I hope you’ll agree with me that no woman should feel so 
unsafe, especially in a town like Cheltenham.  

Would the Council consider installing better lighting in Cheltenham’s 
parks and gardens to help women feel safer? 

 Response from  

 It is important that our public spaces feel welcoming, that people feel safe 
using them and I can understand following the tragic murder of Sarah 
Everard that our communities are looking at the spaces they use and 
assessing how they feel being within them.  Lighting of our parks and 
gardens has been subject to numerous conversations over the years; 
with varying views in respect of the extent in which areas should be lit 
taking into account crime and safety (both evidential and perception), 
anti-social behaviour, the effect on wildlife, the impact on dark skies 
within urban areas, and whether other reasonable lit routes exist.  
However, I agree, that recent events trigger a refresh of those 
conversations, we want our open spaces to thrive and that people feel 
safe using them. 

The Government has recently announced new measures to double the 
Safer Streets Fund to £45m to improve lighting and CCTV, so that 
women are safer walking home through parks and streets on their way 
home.  We need to understand more about this funding how this could 
contribute to our neighbourhoods.  The issues raised by this question are 
cross cutting across a number of services of the council and I will draw 
together the relevant officers to look further at this issue. 

 Supplementary question 

 Can the outcome of any further discussions on this topic be made public? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 Yes – public engagement is an essential part of this process. 

4. Question from Sarah Pineger to the Chair of Licensing, Councillor 
David Willingham 

 In the past week, with the murder of Sarah Everard, I, like many women 
around the country have reflected on how it feels to be a woman out, 
especially after dark, alone. I have reflected on advice I was given as a 
young woman to stay safe, including not walking alone and to wear shoes 
I can run in. 

I have also reflected on those occasions where I felt most scared, most at 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
- 8 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

risk. These occasions include being inappropriately touched by a taxi 
driver (a taxi I took to stay safe). I'd like to ask the council what they are 
doing, especially at busy times like race week, or probably when Covid 
restrictions relax and pubs can reopen), to prevent unlicensed taxis from 
operating, and also to ensure any complaints against licensed taxi drivers 
are dealt with seriously and expediently. 

 Response from the Chair of Licensing 

 I wish to put on record my condolences to the family and friends of Sarah 
Everard, who will be struggling to come to terms with their grief at this 
difficult time.   

I would like to start by reassuring the questioner and the public that 
Cheltenham Borough Council’s licensing processes are based on the 
highest possible standards in light of legislation and national guidance.   
We are confident therefore that taking a Cheltenham licensed taxi or 
private hire vehicle is safe the drivers will get you home safe and secure 
at the end of a night out in town.  

The Council has a robust Taxi Licensing Policy and performs background 
checks on all drivers via the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS), the 
Driver Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) and the National Register of 
Revocations and Refusals (NR3), to name a few, and requires drivers to 
undertake mandatory safeguarding training.  Our Taxi Licensing Policy 
also requires that taxis are silver in colour, display an approved taxi sign 
on the roof and a Cheltenham taxi plate on the back, this allows the 
public to identify a Licensed Cheltenham Taxi, which are the ONLY 
vehicles that can legally ply for hire in the town.  There are a number of 
taxi ranks around town, some with taxi marshals on busy weekend 
evenings, and both the taxi marshals and the taxi drivers work diligently 
to report and prevent unlicensed vehicles illegally plying for hire in the 
town.  Alternatively, the public can call, use an app or go to a number of 
private hire operators and pre-book a private hire journey.   

In the event that a member of the public has a complaint about the 
conduct of a licensed driver, they should report it in writing to the Borough 
Council either by email: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk or to Licensing, 
Municipal Offices, Promenade, Cheltenham GL50 9SA.  In the case of a 
serious offence it may also be appropriate to contact the Police.  
Complaints will be assessed by officers in accordance with principles of 
PACE (Police and Criminal Evidence Act) and the council’s enforcement 
policy.  Serious cases may result in the driver’s licence being immediately 
suspended and the matter being referred to the Licensing Committee for 
determination.  The Licensing Committee is there to ensure that all 
licensed drivers are “fit and proper” and has the power to revoke a 
driver’s license with immediate effect if there is sufficient evidence of 
serious misconduct.   

In terms of enforcement, Council Officers run test purchasing operations 
to detect, disrupt and prosecute unlicensed vehicles and drivers.  This 
happens throughout Gold Cup Race-week in March and at other times of 
the year.  In 2019, 12 drivers were prosecuted for illegally plying for hire 
during the festival.  The Council’s preparations are already underway for 
post-Covid reopening and the likely influx of people this will bring back 

Page 12

mailto:licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk


 
 
 

 

 
- 9 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

into the Evening and Night Time Economy, and is committed to working 
with Gloucestershire Constabulary and other partners to ensure that this 
happens safely.  I am also keen that the Council works with the University 
around safety in respect of new students arriving during freshers’ week. 

 

8. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

1. Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Housing, 
Councillor Peter Jeffries 

 Where water from the roof of a domestic dwelling drains into the public sewer 
system, residents end up paying a surface water charge to the water company.  My 
understanding is that if all surface water is diverted into local soak-aways, then this 
charge is not payable.  Given that this may help reduce tenants' bills, could the 
Cabinet Member for Housing discuss this with CBH, both in terms considering this 
for new builds and also investigating whether it is possible to retrofit this to larger 
blocks of flats? 

 Response from Cabinet Member  

 Where water from the roof of a domestic dwelling drains into the public sewer 
system, residents pay a surface water charge to the water company.  If all surface 
water is diverted into a local soak-away, then this charge is not payable, however, if 
the property has a driveway/hard surface that sheds water onto a highway/into public 
drains then the drainage charge still stands.  With regard to existing blocks of flats, 
then this would be looked at alongside neighbourhood improvement schemes, 
subject to budget priorities. We would liaise with Severn Trent when looking at such 
schemes to ensure that if improvement works are undertaken that the charges will 
be removed. 

With regard to new build sites, sustainable drainage systems are part of the design 
considerations in urban areas and are led by the engineering detail.  We as a matter 
of course already install sustainable driveways and attenuation tanks and take 
advantage of sustainable systems where we can. 

2. Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 Planning application 17/01707/FUL at 453 High Street, required the construction of 
steps leading up from the High Street to the Honeybourne Line.  While the planning 
conditions for this application required the installation and approval of lighting, it did 
not require these lights to be illuminated at night.  The lack of illumination is a 
significant safety concern for some of my constituents.  Could the Cabinet Member 
please confirm that these steps are privately maintained, and that if due to the lack of 
lighting, anyone were to injure themselves while using them at night, the liability 
would not rest with CBC, but with the freeholder who has actively decided not to light 
them? 

 Response from Cabinet Member  

 The applicant has discharged the planning conditions satisfactorily. The steps were 
improved and lights were provided by the developer for the benefit of the wider 
community. The lights were not a statutory requirement and were not required to 
make the development acceptable. CBC are currently in the process of agreeing to 
make a contribution to the costs of the electricity for the lighting which is expected to 
be very minimal. This agreement will need to be approved by Finance, and with the 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
- 10 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

new occupier of the property. 

 Supplementary question 

 Can the Cabinet Member work with officers in the planning team to ensure that when 
developments come forward, planning conditions are thought through properly? This 
is in regard to a recent example of an application where a planning condition 
required the lights to not be turned on at night. 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 The applicant discharged the planning conditions satisfactorily, but I will liaise with 
officers to check this in more detail. 

3. Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 On the roundabout junction of Gloucester Road and Queen’s Road, there is a 
Grade-II listed ornamental lamppost.  This is described as follows “Lamp post. 
c1900. Cast iron. Square base with armorial bollards. Enriched upper base with 
annulet of relief pigeons. Plain shaft. Lamp has circular capping with decoration and 
2 arms forming overthrow.”  The lighting from this street lamp was reported to 
Gloucestershire County Council as defective on 15th November 2018, it was 
eventually removed by GCC for repairs, but has still not been re-instated.  Does the 
Cabinet Member share my concern about the County Council’s unduly slow 
response in dealing with this matter, and its seeming lack of care for our town’s 
heritage assets, and could the Cabinet Member please advise whether there are any 
steps other than listed building enforcement that CBC can take to expedite the 
reinstatement of this heritage asset? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 I thank Councillor Willingham for his question and share his concern over the delay 
in repairs.  I am also grateful for him sharing the response he has received from 
Gloucestershire County Council, which states that the lantern has been with a 
specialist lighting company for refurbishment since February 2020. This task has 
been hindered significantly due to a number of factors, including the need for 
bespoke manufacturing processes and temporary factory closures. It is due for 
return from refurbishment within the next three weeks and arrangements will be 
made to have it reinstalled on its return.   

I will monitor the situation and hope that further action by this authority will not be 
required.   

4. Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 Permitted planning application 19/02278/FUL for gating the alleyway between 308 
and 310 High Street (leading from High Street and New Street), which was approved 
on 8th January 2020 contains a condition that requires the extinguishment of a public 
right of way.  GCC Public Rights of Way online mapping currently shows that there 
are no public rights down this alleyway, but there is a significant likelihood that a 
County Council error in the definitive map has incorrectly located “Cheltenham 
Footpath 24” (ZCH24) 20m too far to the Northwest, and this alleyway is historically 
a public footpath.  Given the three year commencement condition on the planning 
permission, could the Cabinet Member please advise me how long the applicant 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
- 11 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

must wait for GCC to correct the definitive map before proceeding upon the basis 
that there is no footpath to be extinguished, and could I be advised whether CBC 
can do anything to expedite getting a resolution to this matter, as the alleyway is a 
crime, anti-social behaviour and fly-tipping hotspot? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 Thank you Councillor Willingham for raising this issue over this regrettable error and 
for making me aware of the response from the question he has asked of my 
counterpart at Gloucestershire County Council.  That response is that GCC officers 
have been asked to look at resolving this issue as a priority but that there are 
statutory timescales at play.  GCC suggest that Cheltenham Borough Council should 
consider using a Public Spaces Protection Order and gating, which could be 
delivered much more speedily.  In fact, that is what we are intending to do and 
undertook the required consultation but officers were then informed by GCC that we 
could not proceed because of the issue identified above.  I propose that I take this 
matter up directly with the GCC Portfolio Holder to emphasise the urgency of action 
by the County Council.   

 Supplementary question 

 Will the Cabinet Member work with me, the Public Rights of Way Team, the county 
council, West End Partnership and other partners to ensure that we get something 
done with regard to this crime hotspot? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 The quickest way forward will be to publish a Public Spaces Protection order. I have 
consulted officers and hope to publish a letter on the topic this week. 

5. Question from Councillor Martin Horwood to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 At the Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 8th March, a welcome commitment was 
given to transparency in the administration of section 106 and Community 
Infrastructure Levy funds by the council, and specifically to the creation of a public 
register detailing all such monies held or anticipated by the council, with details of 
any restrictions on spending these funds for each item (such as original 106 
agreement texts), any decisions so far taken to allocate them to any particular 
budget, organisation or project, and by whom these decisions were taken. Can the 
cabinet member responsible confirm this plan and by when they will aim for the 
public register to be published? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 I thank Councillor Horwood for his questions and his reference to the discussion 
which took place at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee which I attended, the draft 
minutes of which can be found here:  
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/documents/g3203/Public%20minutes%2008th-
Mar-2021%2018.00%20Overview%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=11 

As highlighted at the meeting some information is available and was published with 
the Council papers from July 2020:    

As indicated in the question this project is likely to involve an examination of the texts 
of all s106 Agreements, which is likely to take some time and the allocation of 
resources.  There is a need to scope out the work required, establish the costs, and 

Page 15

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/documents/g3203/Public%20minutes%2008th-Mar-2021%2018.00%20Overview%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=11
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/documents/g3203/Public%20minutes%2008th-Mar-2021%2018.00%20Overview%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=11


 
 
 

 

 
- 12 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

approve a project plan before I can give you a timescale, however I would look for 
this to be achieved by the Summer.  Nevertheless, based on a little research we are 
seeking quotes as to the use/purchase of a software module to facilitate the 
publication of the information.  In addition, we are exploring possible joint working 
with Tewkesbury and Gloucester Councils which may help to reduce the cost and 
improve the efficiency of the task.  I undertake to update colleagues on the 
development of this proposed project.   

6. Question from Councillor Martin Horwood to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 The O&S Committee was told that no process had yet been established for the 
future governance of CIL funds. Can the cabinet member provide a timetable for the 
establishment of this process? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 As Councillor Horwood will recall there are a number of elements relating to the use 
of funds received under the Community Infrastructure Levy process.   

In respect of the Regulation 59 Infrastructure Funds (wholly relating to Transport 
infrastructure in accordance with the Council’s Infrastructure Statement) the current 
governance arrangement would be through an approach from the County Council for 
decision by the Cabinet for the release of funds.  A more streamlined governance 
arrangement would be for joint decision making by the Charging Authorities (CBC, 
Tewkesbury and Gloucester).  We are working with our partners to develop an 
efficient mechanism for delivery for spending from April 2022.  A decision/agreement 
on this will be needed in advance of that to set up the appropriate arrangements.   

Governance of the allocation of Regulation 59F Neighbourhood Funds does need to 
be developed although currently those funds stand at only £9,702.77.  It should be 
noted that parished areas can draw on CIL funds received directly, but that does not 
apply to other areas.  As stated at the O& S Committee, a paper is to be prepared for 
Cabinet approval and I have asked for this to be prepared in the next 3 months. 

7. Question from Councillor Martin Horwood to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 If such a CIL governance process is established, can the cabinet member confirm 
whether or not it will follow a funding panel model, and if so can consideration be 
given to alignment with the council’s wider objectives and local plan, the involvement 
of members local to the area generating the CIL, and consultation with the relevant 
parish council or other neighbourhood forum if applicable? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 I would not wish to prejudge the options for the governance arrangements referred to 
in the earlier question and response.  However, guidance on the use of CIL receipts 
refers to the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of 
infrastructure and anything that is concerned with addressing the demands that 
development places on an area.  In addition, there is a need to engage with 
communities and agree how best to spend the Neighbourhood Funding.  As stated 
earlier, within Parish areas, funds are passed to those councils.   

8. Question from Councillor Tim Harman to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
- 13 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

 Both the High Street and Town Centre in Cheltenham and elsewhere face 
challenges arising from longer-term structural changes in retail and as a result of the 
pandemic. Can the Cabinet Member outline the plans that Cheltenham Borough 
Council have to promote and support the Town Centre to recover and prosper? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 Thank you Councillor Harman for your question, which is a key priority for my 
portfolio and I welcome your shared concern in respect of the challenges.   

At a meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 8th March, a presentation was 
provided by the Chair of the Cheltenham Economic Recovery Task Force and the 
Council’s Director of Planning.  This reinforced the challenges, which were in play 
pre the Covid-19 pandemic and which have been exacerbated by the 3 periods of 
lockdown and the impacts arising from this, in particular, on our retail, hospitality and 
cultural sectors. 

A sub-group of the Task Force has been established, to focus specifically on the 
town centre, including assessing the future vision for what will be a changing 
economy.  This group has brought together key stakeholders to inform future 
thinking, which in due course will extend to wider public engagement.  A first 
outcome that will be published very shortly is a positive narrative, which seeks to 
break down the perceived barriers in respect of alternative uses that can occur within 
the town centre.  We will be engaging directly with developers and agents and 
extend our support to encourage innovative thinking to reinvigorate the High Street 
and wider town centre. 

You may be aware of an innovative pilot project the Task Force is developing 
‘Counter Culture’ that is looking at ways to bring together commercial, digital, 
community and culture, through accessing vacant units in the town centre.  There 
are a number of barriers that need to be broken down to realise this project, but I am 
supporting the thinking in how we can deliver this project. 

Recognising the specific challenges faced by our hospitality businesses, the Task 
Force is currently in the process of bringing together key stakeholders to identify 
opportunities where this sector can be supported. 

Through the Task Force we are engaging with key government departments, 
accessing think-tank learning and opening up opportunities for Cheltenham within 
the broader national picture. 

Finally, Councillor Harman will be aware of the positive outcomes we have delivered 
through the Reopening the High Street Safely Fund.  The delivery of this action plan 
continues and we support the government extension of this programme to June 
2021 and are continuing to lobby for further extension and additional funding.  

 Supplementary question 

 Thank you for your full response on what is a key issue for the town and a national 
challenge with uncertainty over future of major retailers. Could all new members in 
May be provided with a full briefing about the High Street’s economic situation so 
everyone knows where they stand? It would be wise to keep members as informed 
as possible. 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
- 14 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

 I agree that this would be a good idea. By May, we are hoping that the Cheltenham 
Economic Recovery Task Force will also have progressed, so this would be very 
timely. I will liaise with officers to schedule something suitable. 

9. Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Cyber and 
Safety, Councillor Andrew McKinlay 

 In an earlier members’ briefing, I believe it was mentioned that the Council have got 
access to CCTV cameras that can be deployed to try tackle enviro-crime such as fly-
tipping.  While there are a number of locations that would benefit from this, a few 
priority areas spring to mind: Lower Mill Street/Arle Avenue/Colletts Drive, the St 
Peter’s Close car park which serves Saracens FC, and the lay-by area adjacent to 
the Arle Road rail bridge which accesses St Peter’s Park.  Could the Cabinet 
Member please advise how members can request that areas be tasked for this type 
of enforcement action? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 If members have specific areas of concern in terms of littering, fly-tipping or ASB it 
would be helpful if these could be recorded via the on-line web forms that are 
accessible from the A to Z on our website (e.g. under ‘fly-tipping’) at 
www.cheltenham.gov.uk   

We intend that mobile CCTV deployment will be determined in future via consultation 
with the Community Safety Partnership, to ensure that the most significant issues 
are targeted, having regard to identified issues across the town. 

In future, I would very much like to see greater use of mobile CCTV, which has the 
potential to pay for itself, for example, through the issuing of fixed penalty notices for 
offences such as fly-tipping and littering from vehicles. 

10. Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Cyber and 
Safety, Councillor Andrew McKinlay 

 The Honeybourne Line bridge over the Lower High Street, appears to have 
sustained further damage that has dislodged some of the panels on the underside of 
the bridge, and has allowed pigeons to make roosts in and under the bridge.  This is 
evidenced by the deposits of guano on the road and pavement.  While I recognise 
that the High Street at this location is a busy A-road, bird guano carries health risks 
such as psittacosis, and pedestrians walking under the bridge would not appreciate 
any “gifts from above”.  Could I ask the Cabinet Member for an assurance that this 
Council will work with the County Council to try to arrange a closure or part closure 
of the road (possibly during a weekend) so that the bridge can have its bird proofing 
repaired and improved? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 Although bird guano can be unsightly and unpleasant, it is highly unlikely to present 
a public health risk to people just passing by, due to the transient nature of any 
inadvertent contact, particularly as individuals should be practicing good hand 
hygiene as a result of Covid-19.  

However, the borough council, through the property team, will look at any repairs 
required in relation to the bridge and any related temporary road closure needed via 
Gloucestershire County Council, in order to facilitate the reinstatement of bird-
proofing measures.  

Page 18

http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/


 
 
 

 

 
- 15 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

 Supplementary question 

 Thank you for your answer. Those walking under the bridge now are still at risk from 
birds on the bridge. Can we look at this relatively urgently, subject to restrictions on 
nesting birds? And where repairs are needed, can we pursue insurance companies 
for payment rather than shifting the burden onto Cheltenham taxpayers? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 Yes, we are currently liaising with county council on repair work but this is a joint 
effort and takes time. I agree that insurers should foot the bill rather than residents. 

11. Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Economy and 
Development, Councillor Victoria Atherstone 

 With the unfortunate closure of DW Sports on Gloucester Road, there are now 
several parcels of land in the Arle Avenue, Lower Mill Street and Colletts Drive area 
that might benefit from a unified regeneration approach.  This is especially important 
now that the previously derelict gas club on the other side of the River Chelt has 
been redeveloped as flats.  Could I please ask Cabinet Members to investigate 
whether this is something that CBC and/or CBH could pursue, or whether we could 
encourage this as private redevelopment via planning policy? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 I’m grateful to Councillor Willingham for bringing this area to my attention.  I am 
aware that you have started dialogue with the relevant officers to draw the key 
issues together.  As you are aware, there are a number of complex issues relating to 
this area which will need to be considered comprehensively. 

The local plan enables the delivery of previously developed land and we would 
welcome this area being developed.  However, as you rightly note, this is not a 
simple task, due in part to the mix of private landownerships, land contamination and 
other constraints.  A co-ordinated regeneration approach will be needed to bring this 
forward.  I am happy to take your request away and discuss with officers how such 
an approach can be developed and when it could reasonably be resourced, having 
regard to other corporate priorities. 

 Supplementary question 

 Can the Cabinet Member confirm that they are happy to take this forward, as it is a 
key project requiring a clear strategic vision? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 I would be happy to work with the Member and officers on this, and I hope it will be 
redeveloped in the near future. 

12. Question from Councillor Tony Oliver to Cabinet Member Housing, Councillor 
Peter Jeffries 

 From my casework in Warden Hill, I know that Cheltenham Borough Homes has a 
good record for taking steps to sanction tenants that indulge in anti -social behaviour 
within their community.  Sadly, there are also instances in my ward, where it has 
proved impossible to secure similar sanctions, when the offending tenants live in 
privately rented accommodation. There may be exceptions, but where private 
landlords fail to take responsibility for the actions of their tenants, anti-social 

Page 19



 
 
 

 

 
- 16 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

behaviour can spread and have a dangerously corrosive effect on community 
cohesion, leaving innocent neighbours prey to day-to-day annoyance or persecution 
from the perpetrators of anti-social behaviour. 

What powers does the Council have to control irresponsible private landlords, and if 
these are insufficient, does the Council have the option to threaten compulsory 
purchase of properties where private tenants are causing a gross public nuisance? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 The council initially takes a graduated approach, as does Cheltenham Borough 
Homes, when dealing with ASB. The options we have available to us, from initial 
investigation through to enforcement, are listed below. (Please note: these are for 
situations where the landlord is a private one, not a housing association. All housing 
associations will investigate their own ASB cases):  

-          First stage – a complaint is received about the tenant(s) in a property and 
we seek to gain as much as information as is available from the complainant, 
including if they are aware, who the landlord is and if any contact has been 
made with them. 
 

-          Warning letter – this will initially go to the tenant(s) to warn them of their 
behaviour and that it is causing ASB and an impact on the community. If we 
know who the landlord is, we may, depending on the case, make contact with 
them regarding the behaviour of their tenant(s). We can also contact letting 
agents if the landlord is registered with one. 
 

-          From the information gleaned and any response we receive as a result of 
the above work, we review whether there is any support the person/family 
need – is there anything they need support with to address the root cause of 
their ASB. If the ASB is related to a young person, this may be a referral 
through to the GCC Youth Support Team (YST). [NB the process for 
investigating ASB from a young person, is different to someone who is over 
18, although some of the same tools under the law are the same, there is a 
different process]. 
 

-          Should the ASB continue, we invite the tenant(s) to sign up to an ABC 
(Acceptable Behaviour Contract), this is voluntary and will ask them to stop 
certain behaviours for a period of time. This is not a legal notice and so 
cannot be breached and subsequently taken to court. 
 

-          Throughout the above, we liaise closely with complainants to identify if 
there has been a positive change in behaviour. 
 

-          Once we have identified who the private landlord is or the letting agency, 
we liaise with them to ask how they can assist in reducing the ASB, perhaps 
through the terms of the tenant’s contract  and what warnings can be given. 
 

-          If the behaviour continues despite support being in place and we have 
given sufficient time to make a difference to a person, we can then seek ASB 
injunctions, which carry conditions from the court which means we can action 
breaches. These orders are made by court on the tenant(s) and not the 
landlord, as they are about placing conditions on the person to stop a certain 
behaviour, or for them to start e.g. engagement with a support agency. 

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 
- 17 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

 
-          An alternative option is that if the ASB or neighbourhood issues caused 

are impacting the community, we can review if a community protection 
warning is suitable. This is a more formal process which lists what we want 
the person to stop doing within a defined timescale. If this is not effective, we 
can issue a community protection notice, outlining the behaviour we want 
stopped, plus reasonable timescales. If the condition is not met, or if the 
tenant does not stop the behaviours listed, we as a council have the 
legislative power to issue a fixed penalty notice (FPN) or can take the case to 
court, where penalties can be issued by the judge. Community protection 
warnings and notices can be served on landlords, but this would be more for 
environmental issues, therefore, it would not be effective or legally suitable to 
serve one of these on a landlord for their tenant’s behaviour, as the only 
people who can decide to stop the ASB, is the person/people themselves. 
 

-          Another option available, should the property be used for ASB and/or 
criminality, or the tenant needs safeguarding to stop others from entering, we 
can apply to the court (after background work and consultation with 
tenant/landlord) for a closure order. This can be full or partial – each of these 
last for 3 months (unless extended by a judge). A full closure order means 
that no one can enter a property for the period of the order (except the 
landlord, emergency services and listed contractors e.g. gas/electricity 
board). A partial closure would mean that the tenant/tenants could remain 
living there and the people listed could enter, but no one else would be 
permitted to enter the house for the period of the order. If we apply for a full 
closure order, it is likely that the landlord will not receive rent for that period of 
time. If a full closure order is made, we can discuss with the landlord if they 
will be starting legal eviction proceedings against the tenant, so that they do 
not return to living in the property after our order has ended. The legal 
responsibility to begin these proceedings and adhere to the timescales set 
out in tenancy law are all on the landlord. 
 

In addition, under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, there is a 
provision for registered social landlords and private landlords, in the circumstances 
outlined below, to apply to the court for a “mandatory grounds for possession order”. 
The majority of the items in the list below are dependent on a judge finding a person 
guilty of a breach of an order, or the making of a closure order for example.  

The landlord then has to apply for the possession order themselves, this is not 
something a council can do for them, but we can provide information on the 
breach/existence of a closure order etc. to assist the landlord in this legal application. 
Many landlords may not have their own dedicated legal representation, or they may 
not have the correct level of insurance cover to claim from and therefore need to find 
the money to pay for the court hearing for the possession order to be heard, which 
can be an unforeseen cost for them. 

The circumstances where a landlord may apply for absolute grounds of possession 
are: 

The tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a person visiting the property 
has met one of the following conditions:  
• has been convicted of a serious offence (specified in Schedule 2A to the Housing 
Act 1985);  
• has been found by a court to have breached a civil injunction;  

Page 21



 
 
 

 

 
- 18 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

• is convicted for breaching a criminal behaviour order (CBO);  
• is convicted for breaching a noise abatement notice; or  
• the tenant’s property has been closed for more than 48 hours under a closure order 
for anti-social behaviour.  
 
As a result of the Covid pandemic, there have been very strict rules and bans in 
place preventing landlords from evicting tenants – once reviewed again in line with 
the re-opening of the country, there will be updates on this aspect. 
 
Overall, we work on an “engage, support, enforce” model in Solace and enforcement 
cannot always be our first call (unless an emergency high risk situation presents and 
there is a need for a ‘without notice’ application – this is only in very specific 
circumstances and would involve partners such as the police). We always work with 
landlords where their tenants are causing issues for a community and ask for them 
to also review the powers they have under the law surrounding tenants and 
contracts. 
 
In Cheltenham, some control over antisocial behaviour by private tenants is also 
provided by way of license conditions for houses in multiple occupation, which have 
or require a mandatory licence under the Housing Act 2004. 

Such conditions include that the manager (landlord) must take reasonable and 
practicable steps to prevent or reduce antisocial behaviour from their tenants or 
visitors to their properties.  

Compulsory purchase is not an available power to provide a solution to antisocial 
behaviour by tenants under Housing or Planning Act legislation. 

Finally, CBH will work with any case, providing a council tenant is either a victim or 
perpetrator and this will often involve working with private rented tenants, or owner 
occupiers. If appropriate, we can impose sanctions available through the tenancy 
agreement, but will also work with partners to enable sanctions applicable to other 
tenures.  CBH are keen to consider and understand the wider community impacts of 
each ASB case. CBH regularly works with CBC, Solace, the police and support 
agencies, as this provides the most effective outcomes in resolving ASB cases. 
Mental health and support needs are often key issues in ASB cases and CBH 
increasingly works to address related support needs, as an effective way of resolving 
an ASB case. 

13. Question from Councillor Tim Harman to Cabinet Member Cyber and Safety, 
Councillor Andrew McKinlay 

 Everyone was horrified by the abduction and murder of Sarah Everard. Can the 
Cabinet Member inform Council of additional steps that Cheltenham Borough 
Council can and will take to improve safety in public spaces, such as additional 
CCTV? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 The council manages Cheltenham’s extensive public realm CCTV system of around 
60 cameras. The locations of the cameras have been the subject of consultation, 
and agreement with the Police. The images from the cameras are relayed via fibre 
optic cables to the police control room at Waterwells in Gloucester. CCTV has been 
instrumental in securing convictions in a number of high profile violent crime cases 
locally and we work in close partnership with the police to ensure its effectiveness in 

Page 22



 
 
 

 

 
- 19 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

supplementing local ‘on the ground’ policing resources. The council itself does not 
have direct access to the CCTV images, as the police is the designated ‘data 
controller’, recording camera footage 24/7, together with active staff monitoring for 
most hours of the day and night. 

Clearly, CCTV cannot reasonably be expected to cover the whole town, or provide a 
guarantee of safety for all members of the public and there are significant financial 
implications relating to the service, including both capital and on-going revenue costs 
for line rental. However, in the three year period 2017-20, the authority spent over 
£0.5 million on public realm CCTV (including upgrading to higher quality digital 
images) and is currently in discussions about installing additional cameras to cover 
the planned extension of the Honeybourne Line to Lansdown Road. 

Whilst more could always be done, I am confident that Cheltenham is doing what it 
reasonably can, within the resources available, to keep local people safe. 

 Supplementary question 

 Would the Cabinet Member consider further options for what we could do: for 
example, a public panel led by women’s groups? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 It is quite right that we should consider this, and it is important not to fall back into 
standard routines. We must take a positive and progressive approach. 

14. Question from Councillor Angie Boyes to the Chair of Licensing, Councillor 
David Willingham 

 In light of the recent tragic killing of Sarah Everard, it is vital that Cheltenham 
Borough Council ensures it is doing all it can to protect the safety of women on our 
streets both in the day and especially at night. As a victim of stalking myself, knowing 
what it is like to continuously have to look over my shoulder, and having endured 
numerous instances of sexual harassment over the years, I feel very strongly that we 
must do everything we can to make women feel safer on Cheltenham’s streets. Can 
the Chair of Licensing, Cllr. David Willingham, please ensure that safety issues for 
women are included as part of our Purple Flag considerations, our Evening and 
Night Time Economy co-ordination, our post-Covid recovery planning and our Race 
Week 2022 planning? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 The issues that Cllr Boyes raises are of significant concern to me as our town’s 
Evening and Night Time Economy Champion, and will come under more scrutiny 
following the tragic killing of Sarah Everard.  

 Our Purple Flag status is reassessed annually, with a more thorough assessment 
happening biennially.  This includes submission of Key Performance Indicators on 
crime and the results of a perceptions survey questionnaire.  The latest submission 
of these KPIs was published in agenda item 7 of Licensing Committee on 3rd March 
2021, and shows that in the period 1st March 2019 to 29th February 2020 there 
were eight sexual offences recorded as occurring between 5pm and 5am on Friday 
and Saturday nights in the Purple Flag area.  It also shows that in 2019 and 2020 
85% of respondents felt safe when they are out in Cheltenham town centre in the 
evening or at night.  This data is currently not broken down by gender or other 
demographic characteristics and I will ask officers to consider whether it is possible 

Page 23



 
 
 

 

 
- 20 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

to collect that information in future, so that we can identify whether any particular 
groups feel more vulnerable. 

Our Evening and Night Time Economy co-ordination works closely with 
Gloucestershire Constabulary and Licensed venues to keep our town safe via a 
Nightsafe group. I will request that the consideration of what members of that group 
can do to reduce the risk and incidence of violence against women is discussed at 
the next meeting.  It may be simple actions, such raising awareness of the “Ask for 
Angela” or ordering an “Angel shot” to indicate to staff that there is a problem, and 
working with SIA registered door staff to raise their awareness of signs of domestic 
abuse or coercive control, but different venues may have other ideas that they can 
contribute, which could also make a positive difference. 

In terms of the post-Covid recovery, preparations for a safe reopening are already 
underway.  For the re-opening, Gold Cup race week 2022, and other times when our 
Evening and Night Time Economy is busy such as Fresher’s Week and the 
Christmas Party season, I will be asking the Council if it can repeat, reinforce and 
strengthen the previous sexual violence awareness poster campaign, that has been 
run in partnership with the Gloucestershire Rape and Sexual Abuse Centre and 
Crimestoppers.  This aims to ensure that everyone is aware that unacceptable 
behaviours involving any unwanted sexual contact, harassment like grabbing, 
groping, rubbing, pinching or upskirting are sexual violence crimes, and that if 
someone experiences this type of behaviour, they should call the police. 

 Supplementary question 

 Thank you for your reassuring reply on a very difficult subject. Have you been able to 
contact Gloucestershire Constabulary yet, and have they responded to your 
request?  

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 I have emailed the police and received a response, which outlined a number of key 
developments. The constabulary’s anti-drink spiking campaign providing spiking 
detection kits for bartenders will be implemented this summer and will now be 
county-wide rather than just Cheltenham-wide. The ‘Ask for Angela’ campaign will 
also hopefully be of real value. It is important to approach this problem from all 
possible angles. 

15. Question from Councillor Diggory Seacome to the Cabinet Member Finance, 
Councillor Steve Jordan 

 In the 'Snapshot' of the year, issued with Council Tax demands, you make mention 
of 6,000 business grants paid, at a cost of £31.5 m, which is roughly £5K per 
business, but no mention is made of the fact that this is Government money. 

Do you not think this is disingenuous in its presentation to the Tax payers of 
Cheltenham, giving the impression that it might well have come from CBC 
resources? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 No. It reflects the huge amount of work done by CBC staff to pay out over 8,400 
grants worth £37.6m to Cheltenham businesses over the past year. This helped 
ensure this council was the first in the country to start paying out business grants 
using its own reserves before any government funding was received. There have 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
- 21 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

been 10 different grant schemes 7 of which are still live and with 2 more starting in 
April. 

The work done by Jayne Gilpin and her team has included:- 

 Setting up new systems and processes - for a complex project like this it 
would normally take months and it was done in less than 2 weeks  

 Implementing changes to systems and processes for each new scheme.  

 Understanding the rules for all the different schemes and pay the correct 
grant to businesses   

 Designing and creating policies for 3 of the schemes  

 There is a lot of fraud and organised crime activity so checks have to be 
made before every grant payment to ensure they are being paid correctly to 
businesses entitled to receive them 

 Lots of checks and monitoring to ensure the payments are sent out correctly - 
3 payment runs each week  

 Dealing with the constant flow of queries from businesses - virtually full time 
for 2 staff & responded to well over 2,000 emails 

 Undertaken post payment assurance, fraud and reconciliation checks on 
grants paid 

 Keeping accurate  records to report to government on a weekly basis 

 Collating data for monthly data returns to various government departments” 
 

And this was all on top of the day job. 

 Supplementary question 

 I’m afraid the answer sidesteps the reason for my question. How much of the £37m 
mentioned in the statement was drawn from CBC’s own reserves, and are any 
payments going to be reimbursed by central government afterwards? 

 Response from Cabinet Member 

 The council initially drew on its reserves to cover costs, which has since been 
refunded by central government. There was no net cost to CBC after these refunds. 

 

9. CAPITAL, NON TREASURY INVESTMENT, TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
AND MRP STRATEGIES AND STATEMENTS 2021/22 
The Cabinet Member Finance and Assets presented the report, noting that 
budget agreed in February outlined the planned Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS), and this report sought to agree some of its key documents in 
accordance with best practice. He thanked Gemma Bell, Head of Finance, and 
the previous Cabinet Member Finance and Assets (Cllr. Hay) for their hard work 
on this. 

He clarified that the capital strategy outlined the council’s vision of what it 
wished to achieve and how it intended to go about it. Key points included the 
need to maximise assets and firm up the capital programme, with key 
developments including the Golden Valley project and the upgrading of 
Cambray Place, while maintaining a significant investment portfolio. 

He highlighted the Arlingclose economic forecast attached as an appendix to 
the Treasury Management Strategy report, and clarified some of the context 
around the strategy. He noted that CBC traditionally borrowed through Public 

Page 25



 
 
 

 

 
- 22 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

Works Loan Board, but that central government had temporarily increased 
interest rates on this and prohibited investment for yield in order to slow down 
loans. CBC was not affected by the latter as it did not invest for yield, but would 
benefit when interest rates go back down again. He added that the November 
recovery budget had restructured some of the capital reserves to reduce future 
requirements on revenue to service debts, and this had been extended to 
2021/22. 

One Member asked for clarification on the £173m external borrowing figure 
mentioned in the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix 4). Was that the 
council’s total borrowing, and if so how did it compare to the total budget and 
that of other councils? The Cabinet Member responded that the council’s asset 
portfolio was so large as to make the debt to asset ratio a better indicator than 
the debt to budget ratio. Paul Jones (Executive Director Finance and Assets) 
echoed this, noting that while CBC was an outlier, it was for the right reasons. 
Many authorities were in negative equity due to pension obligations, but CBC 
could afford to be more flexible thanks to its asset portfolio. 

One Member asked about the council’s strategy for future upcoming liabilities, 
such as the Town Hall. The Executive Director Finance and Assets responded 
that the Property team reviewed assets on a proactive basis, with a budget for 
reactive maintenance too. Any significant liabilities would be outlined in the 
Asset Management Plan due to come to Cabinet and Council in June. 

One Member asked whether CBH could explore the possibility of redeveloping 
brownfield sites for council housing. The Cabinet Member responded that this 
would be reasonable as long as it was financially viable, and each project would 
have its own cost-benefit analysis. The Cabinet Member Housing added that 
this was already something that had taken place, and would continue in the 
future. 

One Member asked for reassurance that the council was not wasteful, following 
the printing of election leaflets implying as such. The Cabinet Member stressed 
that fiscal responsibility was at the heart of their financial plans, but added that 
they would not be cautious for the sake of it. It was right to invest locally, and to 
take calculated risks with the proper cost-benefit analyses in place. 

Several Members praised the layout of the document as clear and logical, while 
one Member praised its focus on rejuvenation and local people. One Member 
suggested that the format of the report should become the standard for future 
budget reports as it was much clearer for the public, thanked Andrew 
Sherbourne and Arlingclose for the detailed economic forecasts they regularly 
gave to Members of the Treasury Management Panel. Several Members 
expressed support for the long-term investment plan and agreed that it was 
important to invest to boost and maintain growth. One Member added that it 
was particularly good to see carbon neutrality projects featuring prominently. 

The Mayor moved to a vote, where it was: 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1. The following be approved:  
 

 The Capital Strategy 2021/22 at Appendix 2; 

 The Investment Strategy 2021/22 at Appendix 3; 

Page 26



 
 
 

 

 
- 23 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021/22 at Appendix 
4; 

 The 2021/22 MRP Statement at Appendix 5. 
 

2. The proposed approach to investment activity and the use of our assets 
and capital resources outlined in 2.5. and 2.6. of the Capital Strategy be 
approved. 

 

10. UPDATE TO THE CONSTITUTION 
The Leader of the Council presented the report in the absence of the Cabinet 
Member Corporate Services, noting that the Constitution Working Group had 
met on 4th March to review possible changes, supported by One Legal and 
Democratic Services. She stressed the importance of keeping the constitution 
up to date and fit for purpose, and noted that the proposed changes were not 
particularly major, including amendments to the Council motions procedure and 
changes to the Licensing Committee to bring it into line with statutory 
obligations. The Chair of Licensing added greater context regarding the 
changes to Licensing Committee subcommittee hearings where a deferral of a 
decision would provide Members with an opportunity to have legal advice to 
record the decision notice with sufficient information and clarity. 

The Mayor moved to a vote, where it was: 

RESOLVED THAT: 

1. An amendment to the licensing sub-committee procedure to 
provide for the deferral of a decision where members of the 
licensing sub-committee determine a deferral is required, as 
outlined in Section 2 of the report, be approved; 

2. The proposed changes to the contract rules, as outlined in Section 
3 of the report, be approved; 

3. The minor changes outlined in Section 4 of the report with regard 
to miscellaneous changes be approved; 

4. Authority be delegated to the Borough Solicitor to make any textual or 
other amendments which are necessary to ensure accuracy, 
consistency and legality of the Constitution when incorporating the 
revisions authorised by Council. 

 

11. COUNCIL DIARY 2021-22 
The Leader of the Council presented the report in the absence of the Cabinet 
Member Corporate Services, noting that the proposed diary followed the usual 
rationale. 

One Member suggested that the council diary should be agreed after the annual 
meeting in May, since several of the Members voting on it would no longer be 
members by the time it came into effect. Another Member agreed that it would 
make sense to allow new members to at least review the dates. Several 
Members advised taking county council and parish council dates into account 
too. The Leader agreed to liaise with the Cabinet Member and Democratic 
Services to consider this. 

The Mayor moved to a vote, where it was: 

RESOLVED THAT: 

Page 27



 
 
 

 

 
- 24 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

1. The draft Council Diary of meetings for September 2021 – August 2022 
be approved. 

 

12. NOTICES OF MOTION 
Motion A: Motion to support the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill 
 
Council notes that: 
 
This council declared a climate emergency in February 2019, drawing attention 
to atmospheric CO2 levels which have already risen above 400 parts per million 
(ppm) and continue to rise; and that without more significant and sustained 
action, the world is set to exceed the Paris Agreement’s 1.5°C limit between 
2030 and 2040; and that the current UK target of net zero by 2050 is therefore 
too little too late. 
 
This council has already taken a lead on climate change and ecological issues 
adopting a recycling issues, delivered a local plan with strong environmental 
policies, promotes sustainable transport options and is now taking fresh 
initiatives like the Cheltenham Zero Partnership; and that other councils 
including Cheltenham Parish Councils are also taking pro-active action on 
climate change. 
 
There is a Bill before Parliament — the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill 
(published as the “Climate and Ecology Bill”) —according to which the 
Government must develop an emergency strategy that: 
 

1. requires that the UK plays its fair and proper role in reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions consistent with limiting global temperature 
increase  to 1.5°C above pre-industrial temperatures; 

2. ensures that all the UK’s consumption emissions are accounted for;  
3. includes emissions from aviation and shipping; 
4. protects and restores biodiverse habitats along overseas supply chains; 
5. restores and regenerates the UK’s depleted soils, wildlife habitats and 

species populations to healthy and robust states, maximising their 
capacity to absorb CO2 and their resistance to climate heating; 

6. sets up an independent Citizens’ Assembly, representative of the UK’s 
population, to engage with Parliament and Government and help 
develop the emergency strategy. 

 
Council therefore resolves to: 
 

 Support the Climate and Ecological Emergency Bill 

 Inform the local media of this decision; 

 Request the cabinet lead for climate change to write to our MPs, asking 
them to support or thanking them for supporting the Bill;  and 

 Write to the CEE Bill Alliance, the organisers of the campaign for the Bill, 
expressing its support (campaign@ceebill.uk). 

 
Debate 

Motion A was proposed by Cllr. Horwood and seconded by Cllr. Boyes. In 
proposing the motion, Cllr. Horwood cited the drastic biodiversity loss in the UK 

Page 28

mailto:campaign@ceebill.uk


 
 
 

 

 
- 25 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

that had led to 15% of species in the UK facing extinction due to factors like 
urbanisation, overdevelopment and climate change. He added that over the last 
few years, the UK had missed all its key national biodiversity targets. 

In seconding the motion, Cllr. Boyes stressed the importance of placing 
ecological renewal at the heart of the post-Covid recovery. She noted that both 
local and national commitments would be required to meet the targets from the 
2015 Paris Agreement. 

One Member added that it was important to tackle pollution, and that the 
authority could itself encourage habits to change. It was especially important to 
protect areas of outstanding national beauty and sites of special scientific 
interest, and they hoped that the Climate and Ecology Bill currently before 
Parliament would become law. 

One Member added that Cheltenham had benefitted from funding from 
European Regional Development Fund, and that they hoped this would be 
replaced by central government after Brexit was complete. 

One Member described climate change as the key challenge of the coming 
decades and praised the recent training day for councillors, which was attended 
by Members from all parties and three district councils. 

One Member stressed the need to set responsible targets, and questioned 
whether the goal of carbon neutrality by 2030 was realistic. He emphasised that 
the council must be genuinely committed to its goals and willing to invest 
properly to deliver them. Several Members conversely argued that it was 
necessary to be ambitious for everyone’s sake, and that the cost of acting on 
climate change was far less than the cost of not acting. 

The Cabinet Member for climate issues emphasised his desire to work closely 
with the county council to deliver carbon neutrality projects and outlined a 
number of CBC projects aimed at reducing emissions. 

The Mayor moved to a vote, where the motion was passed. 

 

Page 29



 
 
 

 

 
- 26 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

 
Motion B 

This council notes with concern the increase in homelessness and rough 
sleeping nationwide in recent years, and the profound impact that 
homelessness has on people’s physical and mental wellbeing.  
 
Council recognises that two common reasons why members of the public may 
not give spare change to homeless people are a concern about how that money 
may be spent, and, due to the recent increase in use of contactless payment 
cards, often have less or no cash about their person.  
  
Council considers the BillyChip®, a Ceramic token which can be purchased in 
cafes and later redeemed by a homeless person in exchange for a hot or cold 
drink, to be a simple, innovative and more secure way for members of the public 
to give financial support to homeless people, which many wish to do.  
  
Council recognises further that the BillyChip® is already available in numerous 
outlets across Bristol, Bath and Oxford, is in the process of identifying and 
approaching potential venues in Cheltenham, and is the subject of huge popular 
online support.  
 
Council wishes to be part of this.  
  
Council offers the BillyChip® its full endorsement and commits to supporting the 
implementation of the chip here in Cheltenham.  
  
To achieve this, council resolves to:  
- collaborate with the BillyChip CIC on developing its profile in Cheltenham  
- give the BillyChip CIC free use of its premises for the purposes of public 
information meetings  
- provide space on the Cheltenham Borough Council website listing participating 
venues and other relevant information  
- ensure that all appropriate council-operated venues participate in the scheme. 

 

Debate 

Motion B was proposed by Cllr. Brownsteen and seconded by Cllr. Harvey. In 
proposing the motion, Cllr. Brownsteen explained the story behind the BillyChip 
and advocated its use across Cheltenham. He clarified that the council would 
not itself be responsible for rolling it out, since BillyChip was its own 
organisation, but that the motion was about the council supporting and 
promoting it. 

One Member asked what the chip cost, and whether it could be promoted in 
nearby towns too. Cllr. Brownsteen clarified that it cost the participating venue a 
pound and the member of the public two pounds to cover the cost of a hot or 
cold drink. 

One Member suggested that they hoped partner organisations could be 
persuaded to get involved too. Members discussed the most effective ways to 
alleviate rough sleeping and look after those affected by it. 

Page 30



 
 
 

 

 
- 27 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 17 May 2021. 

 

The Mayor moved to a vote, where the motion was passed. 

 

13. ANY OTHER ITEM THE MAYOR DETERMINES AS URGENT AND WHICH 
REQUIRES A DECISION 
There were none. 
 

14. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 -EXEMPT INFORMATION 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

“That in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the remaining agenda items as it is 
likely that, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings, if members of the public are present there will be disclosed to 
them exempt information as defined in paragraph 3, Part (1) Schedule (12A) 
Local Government Act 1972, namely: 

 
Paragraph 3; Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) 
 

15. EXEMPT MINUTES 
The minutes of the exempt item from the 7th December 2020 meeting were 
approved and signed as a correct record. 
 
 
 
 
 

Roger Whyborn 
Chairman 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Document is Restricted

Page 29
Minute Item 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes
	15 EXEMPT MINUTES


